
GRENFI<: LL TOWER 

PUBLIC INQUIRY 

Witness Statement of 

Nicholas Paget-Brown 

I, Nicholas Paget-Brown, formerly the leader of THE ROYAL BOROUGH OF 

KENSINGTON AND CHELSEA, WILL SAY: 

1. I make this Witness Statement further to receipt of the Rule 9letter from the Public 

Inquiry dated 12 July 2018 and to provide assistance to the Public Inquiry . 

2. The matters contained in this statement are either known to me, or are ones which I 

believe to be true, (in which case I have specifically said so), or which are deri vcd 

from records, including computer records maintained by the Royal Borough of 

Kensington and Chelsea ('the Borough', 'the Council ' or 'RBKC'). Any records to 

which I have referred, I have had access to, and I beli eve them to be accurate. 

3. I attach to my Witness Statement an Index of the Exhibits to which I refer in my 

statement. 

4 . I am willing for this statement to form part of the evidence before th e Jnquiry and to 

be publ ished on the Inquiry's website. 

5. I can confinn that I have not been interviewed by, nor given a statement to, the 

Metropolitan Police Service regarding the events leading up to the flrc nt Grenfcll 

Tower on 14 June 2017. 
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(J . The events of l4 J unc 20 l 7 were unpa rallcl cd in [,ondon since the end of the Second 

World War. l was, and remain, devastated by the loss of li ll: and the pui n caused to 

so many fami lies who lost relatives, friends and every1h ing that was dear tu them. 

North Kensington is a wonck:rf"ul place, but Cor some, wi ll forever be associated with 

their recollection of that terrib le night. I otTer my deepest condolences to everyone 

who has lost family members or friends and my thoughts and sympathies to those 

who have survived oflen with nothing but terrible ill(~morics. 

My background 

7. I graduated from York University in 1979 having studied History and Politics. I 

began working for a start-up company in the City of London that was developing a 

pre-cursor for the Internet; a research platform which searched newspt~pers, journals 

and trade press. My job was to sel1 it to financial institlltions in the City. The 

company was later acquired by Reuters. I was travelling internationally and sell ing 

the product for Reuters thereafter for approximately 6 years. 

8. In 1991 I was recmitcd by Knight-Ridder Information, the leading US data provider 

at the lime, to set up their London office. 

9. In 1995, I set up my own business publishing a newsletter on Environment and 

Energy Policy. This was targeted at senior managers in UK companies to brief them 

on forthcoming policy changes that would affect their business. This also gave me 

more control over my own diary at a time when my interests in local government 

were developing and taking up more time. 

10. I wm; elected us a Councillor in 1986, f r the Bans Town Ward (at the time) in 

Chelsea. It is now known as the Brompton and Hans Town Ward as extensive warcl 

boundary changes took cffcc.l from 2014. 
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11. My invo lvement in local pol itics can be summari sed as follows: 

a. In 1986 fo llowing my i ni lial election, l was appointed to the Private Sector 

Hous ing Committee. This bad oversight of privale rented housing, tenants' 

issues, bad landlords and houses in multip le occupation. 

b. In 1988 l was appointed Chairman of the Public Sector Hous ing Committee, 

responsible for the management of the Council's housing stock which at that 

time was the direct responsibility of the Council's housing department. In this 

capacity I also chaired the Tenants Consultative Committee. 

c. In the early 1990's there was a major re-structuring of Council Committees. 

Housing and Social Services were merged and I was appointed vice-chair of the 

new Co1mnittee where I continued to have responsibility for housing matters. 

d. I served as Deputy Mayor in 1993 -- 1994. 

e. Subsequently I was asked to chair the Environment Committee responsible for 

waste management, parks, street cleansing, street markets, air quality and 

associated matters. 

f. Legis lat ive changes 1 introduced a Cabinet (Executive) system for local 

authorities and in 2000 J became the Borough's Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration, Community Safety and the Voluntary Sector. I was also 

appointed as Chief Whip to the Conservative Group. 

g. In 2006, I was appointed as Cabinet Member for Environment and the Arts. ln 

2009, Transport was added to my portfolio . This created a large area of 

responsibility including waste, street cl eansing, markets, carbon reduction, 

highway maintenance and road safety . 

1 Loca l Governm ent Ac t 7.000 
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!1. I bccwllc D~.:pu l y L cad<::r (,f. J< B!(C i11 2011. l 'Onti 11 ucd wit h my Cab inet 

portfolio but cca:;cd to be Chief Whip. 

1. ln May 2013, I was elected Leader of RBKC. 

fUJKC Structure and ( ;ovcrnance 

12. The st111ctur and governance of RBKC was (and continues to be) governed by its 

Constitution. For clarity, the comments I make relate to the period of my Leadership 

and arc therefore referred to in th e past tense. I understand that since my resignation 

on 301
h June 2017 , the Constitution has been revie'..ved and revised. I am not fami liar 

with the content of any revised version, and therefore to prevent any confusion, l 

refer only to th e version of the Constitution which is attached (Exhibits NPB/l a --

lh). 

13. Part 7, Appendix B (Exh NPB/lh) contained a diagram which set out RBKC's 

Member-level governance arrangements as at May 2015, which I believe remained 

in this format until my resignation. 

14. The Constituti on set out "hm-11 the Council operates, how decisions are made and the 

procedures that are followed to ensure that they are efficient, transparent and 

accountable to local people ... ..... Some of these processes are required by law, while 

others are a matterfor the Council to choose". (Article 1.02, Exh NPB/lc) . 

1 5. The Full Council v.ras governed by Article 4 of the Constitution (Exh NPB/1 c), which 

set oul how the 50 elected councillors met together, the ro le of the full Council and 

its terms of reference, for example the decisions which had to be made at meetings 

of the full Council. 

16. The Cabinet (governed by Artick 7 (NPB/1 e) was the political executi ve of the 

Council and rcsp(1nsiblc (x <J.gr~cing overall pulicics, budgets and key decisions. Its 

Members and precise pnrtf1lio:-, wcr(~ dcc.;ided by the Leader, as uutltncd by Part 3A, 

Para 1.2 (Exh N PB/l g). 
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17. For the majorit y of my period as Leader, the Cabinet was as follows: 

a. Leader ~ me ; 

b. Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Housing, Propetty and Regeneration -­

Cllr Rock Feilcling-Mcllen ; 

c. Chi ef Whip and Cabinet Member fo r Environment, Environmental Health and 

Leisure - C llr Tim Ahem ; 

d. Remaining Cabi net Members : 

1. Cabinet Member for Family and Children's Services ~ Cllr Elizabeth 

Campbell ; 

H. Cabinet Member for Planning Policy, Transport and Arts - Cll r Tim 

Coleridge; 

tu . Cabinet Member for Education and Libraries - Cllr Emma Will ; 

tv. Cabinet Member for Civil Society - Cllr Gerard Hargreaves ; 

v. Cabinet Member for Finance and Strategy- Cllr Warwick Lightfoot ; 

vt. Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health- Cllr Mary 

Weale; 

vu . Cabinet Member for Facilities, Management and Procurement Policy ~ 

Cllr Paul Warrick. 

18. In May 20 17, r re-shuft1ed the Cabinet to the following positions (and re-defined the 

scope of some of those posi tions), which I understand remained in situ until the new 

Leader appointed a new team, save for any resignations tendered : 

1. Cabinet Member for Plarming Policy and Transport- Cllr Tirn Abem 

(whilst remaining Chief Whip); 

11. Cabinet Member for finance - Cllr Mary Weale; 

111. Cabinet Member for Families and Chi ldren -- Cllr Emma Will ; 

1v. Cabinet Member for Education and Libraries-- Cll r Catherine Faulks; 

v. Cabinet Member for Envi ronment and the Art s -- Cll r Tim Coleridge ; 

vt. Cabinet Member for Civil Soc i ety~ Cllr Gerard Hargreaves ; 

V I!. Cabinet Member Cor Adult Social Care and Public Health -- Cllr 

W arwick Lightfoot ; 

Public [nq uiry Wil ne~s Stateme nt 
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v1 11 . C\1bind Member for Faci lit ics, Managcrm:nt a nd PrOGill cmcnt Po l icy 

Cllr Pau l Warrick. 

19 . Cllr Rock l'cilding- Mcl len remain ed as Deput y 2nd C llr for Hous ing, Propc.tty and 

Regeneration . 

20. As Leader, my role was set out in Part 3A, Para 1.7 of the Const itut ion (Exh 

NPB/1 g). My responsibilities and spanned all portfolios in ord er to ensure co­

ordination and a coherent approach to the Council 's decision making. 

21 . As Leader I was the primary public political face of the Council and held to account 

by the Cabinet, Full Council, and the Cabincl and Corporate Servic s Scrutiny 

Committee. 

22. Cabinet functions and the way and deci sions were made were governed by Article 7 

of the Constitution (Exh NPB/1 e), and included implementir g policy through its 

Forward Plan and key decis ions. This required a Cabinet Member to approve Key 

Decisions having been advised by professional officers. To do this they would need 

to receive regular briefings, attend meetings with officers and members of the public 

and communicate with fe llow Councillors. 

23 . The process of preparing a key decision could take weeks or months. For larger 

strategic and financial decisions, the Cabinet Member was required to take proposals 

to the Cabinet for coll ective decision making. In some circums tances a Cabinet 

Member could m ake a key decision without reference to the full Cabin et, but would 

often raise it to discuss with officers, coilcagues and the Leader wht:re it had the 

potential to b e con tentious. 

24 . B y the time an issue was pl aced on a CnbineL agenda, it was likely to be in an 

advanced state of preparation , enabling Mcm bGrs to consider its impact on the 

Borough, the ti.nancial implications, timctabling and public reaction . 

I't tblic·· lr:quiry \Vi: ne;.;,; S~atcm.::nt 
Ntc lir•hs l' ;if.ei-Bmwn 

(J 

RBK00035001_0006 
RBK00035001/6



25. It was my practice, prior to any Cab inet meeting, to discuss the proposed agenda 

with the Town C lerk. Items would also be discussed informally al meetings of th e 

Leaders' Group which would take place a week or so before the Cabinet agenda was 

circu lated. The Leaders' Group was an informal gather ing of Members of the Cabinet 

and senior officers to discuss cun-ent issues. It could not take decisions, however a 

number of matters of concern would subsequently form the basis of reports to the 

Cabine t. Once the agenda for the Cabinet meeting was agreed, it would be circulated 

and published, in accordance with Article 7. 

26. At any meeting, I would ask the Cabinet Member responsib le for each agenda item 

to introduce the paper. I also asked the relevant officer to add operat_ional infotmation 

or to highlight other details. Cabinet Members would then ask any relevant questions 

and would have a wider discussion. A decision was then reached on each agenda 

item and a minute kept of the decision. 

27. Cabinet meetings were held in public with the agenda papers and supporting 

documents published as "Part A" of the agenda. In line with conunon practice around 

the country, commercially sensitive material such as contract pricing and tendering 

were discussed in the private part of the agenda, to respect commercial 

confidentiality (''Part B") where it was in the public interest not to disclose that 

information. Policy principles were never discussed in the private patt of the agenda. 

28. In addition to these meetings I would meet individual Cabinet Members, with the 

Town Clerk and Directors from the relevant department, in the early part of each 

calendar year, in order to discuss general policy issues, strategic challenges, 

organisational matters and any issues which were likely to arise over the coming 

year. 

29. Full Council meetings were held six times a year. Once a year, the full Council 

would approve the budget for the next financ ial year. It also approved and adopted 

plans and sLrategies which mad e up the Counci l's budgetary and policy framework 

sucll as lhe Local Plan and the Lict:nsing Poli cy, discussed and approved agreed 

Public lnquiry Witness Statement 
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changes to the Constitution of th e Co\ln cil and dehatcd i tem~; referred to the Council 

Cur di:;cus~ i on by the S~.:rutin y Committees. 

30. The Opposition were abl e to hring items to the Council for debate by proposi ng 

motions . In addition, members of the pub! ic were ab le to pcti tion the Council. As 

Leader [ was keen fo r matters of public concern to be brought to the fu ll Counci l, 

for a presentation to be given by the petit ioners, with a response from the relevant 

Cabinet member and for debate amongst members to fo llow. This allowed for all 

aspects and points of view of controversial issues to be aired. 

31. Throughout June and Jul y in each year of my Leadership, the Town Clerk and I 

would meet Cabinet Members and their Directors to discuss three-year budgetary 

proposals. T hroughou t my lime as Lcadt:r, local government was under 

unprecedented pressure to reduce costs year-by year as Revenue Support Grant from 

central Government to all local authorities was signj fi can tly reduced. The Council 

was therefore th inking hard about how, against this background, it could maintain 

good quality services to the public. 

32. One way RBKC sought to achieve this was to share senior management costs with 

neighbouring local authorities in the City of Westminster and the London Borough 

of Hammersmith and Fulham. This was known as the 'Tri-Borough initiative' and 

governed by the provision to enter in to joint arrangcmmts under Article 10.2 

(NPB/If). 

33. As Leader I met weekly with the Town Clerk to discuss relevant issues and would 

also discuss items raised in my "mai lbag" or p icked up on visits around the Borough. 

The "mailbag" consisted of any written correspondence, emai l.s or calls t l the 

Leaders ' office over the preceding we k, and ensured that these were recorded and 

properly followed up . I regularly asked the Tmvn Clerk to follow up particular points 

raised w ith me with the relevant officer and ckparlmcnt. Occasiona lly I would raise 

matters I had picked up at l ,nndon-\vide meetings of ('ouncil Leaders, with the 

Borou rh' s MPs, al Central London Forward m,_:c!ings or with Millistcrs . 

Publ1~ lnquiry \Vitncss Sr.ntt:·.rncnt 
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34. RBKC also had a number of Scruti ny Comm ittees (as outlined in Articl e 6 (NPB/ 1 d) 

which would scrutini se key decis ions and projects relevant to the Committees ' terms 

of reference. Each Committee would cons ider proposed key decis ions and would 

receive regu la r repo1ts on cun-ent projects from Cabinet Members, who would 

nonnally be present at the meet ing to present their report and to answer questions. 

All aspects of Council activity were able to be scrutinised by the relevant committee. 

35. The Committee did not have the au thority to modify a key decision, but could refer 

it back to the Cabinet for re-consideration. Twice a year I was asked by the Cabinet 

and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee to answer questions about the general 

direction of Council policy. 

36_ In order to address the issues of how to provide additional housing to meet London's 

growing population and to meet our Manifes to pledge (Exh NPB/2), (outlined 

further below) to improve housing in the Borough, the Counci l also es tablished a 

Development Board, which I chaired. This brought together different parts of the 

Council to discuss long-tenn plans fo r regenerating some of the Council ' s estates. 

37. The intention was to see whether it was financially viable to re-develop some of the 

post war estates in need of extensive repair and refurbishment to provide more 

additional homes for every type of tenure. It was the Council's declared policy that 

al l existing tenants and leaseholders affected would return to improved housing near 

where they had lived. Members of the Board included the Cabinet Members for 

Housing and Planning, as well as senior officers. Consultants provided the Board 

with advice on matters including density, potenti al locations and financial feasibili ty 

studies. It met three or four times a year and any proposals it put forvvard would be 

refetTed to the Cabinet for approval. 

38 . As pa1i of my plan to be more direct ly accessibl e to residents, J would hold "Ask 

Nick" pub lic meetings, three to four times a year. These meetings were open to 

anyone and would cover most major areas of the Counci l"s responsibilities including 

phmning, infrastructure, social care, communi ty safely, wa. le coll ection, public 

Publi (; lJl(juiry Wi tness S tate n1 e nt 
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tran::;po rt and roacl safety. Typically, at these rncdings residents spoke about the ir 

d<:1y to dny issue , concern s and complaint s. 

39 A n exampl e of how such a forum would work is demons trated via Exh NPB/3 whi ch 

is a folder containing background bri efings on pussibl c issues which may be raised 

by residents at a meeting which took pi ace on 20 October 20 152. 

40. fo lders of this nature would be provided to me usually about a week before the 

meeting, which allowed me to study the contents in order to hav e a profile of the 

Ward in which the session was being held and to ensure that I had been briefed on 

local pertinent issues. It also gave me the opportunity to request further information 

as required specific to each meeting. 

4 1. In addition to these meetings, I would also hold one "Ask Nick'' session annually, 

specificall y for TMO residents. 

42. On occasion, more controversial issues were raised, some of which were already the 

subj ect of specific public meetings organised by residents. Where this was the case, 

I and the appropriate Cabinet Members would be asked to attend those public 

meetings, and it was our usual practice to attend. Examples of such meetings 

included the proposal to build a Crossrail station in Kings Road, Chelsea (organised 

by the Chelsea Society), and plans for estate regeneration and how to consul t 

residents at an early stage (organised by West London Citizens). 

A i ms/Delive1y 

43 . In the Manifc' to fo r the 2 01 4 (P1cdge 6) Council el ections, the Conservat ive G roup 

commitled to building more homes for all types of tenure nnd lo inves ti ng in the 

Council' s s tock of housing. T here was concern that we had an insuf(ic ient quantity 

ofhuusing to be able to meet a ll needs locall y. 

'Pvgt~s lj4.45 of the ~:ca nrwrl version (pi!f~ 38 · · 39 of tht' PilGin at·,! document) contains <Hr up-date rn re lati on 

to !hP re furb ishment works <>t GrPn fe ll Tower . 

P:.: b!lc Inqu iry \V ;'t ~iCSS S:at.:.:ln>w~ [ ~ ~ 
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44. The intention beh ind the Manifesto pledge was to reduce the number of people in 

temporary accommodation and a lso to provide opportunities for younger loca l 

peopl e to sta1t to own a home in th e Borough. It would also enable us to meet the 

Mayor's London Plan target for the Borough of an additional 750 (of a ll tenures) 

homes a year which RBKC was a long way from meeting. This would be achieved 

by regenerating some of the Council's own estates where density was low and 

medium-term maintenance and repair costs were high, rebuilding them to a higher 

standard and increasing the density towards the levels found in some of the desirable 

southern neighbourhoods in the Borough. The intention was to build neighbourhoods 

which included retail and work spaces, as well as homes. 

Complaints 

45. RBK.C's Constitution set out the rights people had in relation to making a complaint 

about the Council, and the various routes ava il able to them (Art 3.02 - Exh NPB/lb). 

In addition to this, as Leader, I met every Friday with my office team and would go 

through the weekly "mailbag", as outlined above. 

46. If the matter was of a political nature I would respond myself. If it was a complaint 

in relation to a particular issue or required a teclmical response, I would request that 

it be forwarded to the appropriate department. On occasion, this might be for a draft 

response which I would sign off and send out in my name. 

4 7. If an item related to the TMO, it would be forwarded to them for their action or, on 

very rare occasions (perhaps where r had met someone and they had subsequently 

written to me), for a draft response to be prepared for me to s<::nd. 

48 . In any instance wh ere a resident was unhappy with a Council response, they would 

be directed to RBKC's fonnal complaints procedure. Th is procedure set out the 

various stages of how any complaint would be dealt with, including signposting them 

to the Local Government Ombud: m an if they were still dissatisfied, as outlined in 

the Constitution. 

Public Inqu iry Witn cs~; S la tem c Ji t 
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49 . Th e~ monitor ing and tracking of correspondence enabled me to assess any rattcrns 

a nd .·cale of eomplaitl lS , and whether there appeared to be any systematic fa il in'S 

either wilhin a pariicular department or on a particular issue . My assessment would 

vary in dire -t response to the issue(s) being raised. Where there were systemic 

fa il ings resulting from a number of simil ar c mplaints, l woul d ne ·d to investigate 

the iss ue and have a more detai led understanding of the cause. Where an issue was 

raised in isolation, and was perhaps related to on --going case work, wh il st it may 

require a detailed response, 1 would not need to in vesti 'ate the matter beyond 

requiring the appropriate department to assist . 

50 . fn relation to Grenfell Tower I received correspondence from residents in relation to 

power surges prior to the refurbishments. T hese were referred to the TMO and dealt 

with by the Housing anJ Property Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on I 8 Ju ly 2013 

(Ex NPH/4). 

5 t. In addition to the above, I was aware that a petition had been presented to the Counci l 

in December 2015. l was not present at this meeting due to the very recent death of 

my Father. The petition requested that the Housing and Property Scrutiny Committee 

undertake an urgent review of the TMO's and Rydon's management of the 

refurbishment of Grenfell Tower. The petition was discussed at the Housing and 

Property Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 6 January 2016 (Ex NPB/5). 

52. Based on the above as examples, I had confidence that the Council were dealing with 

complaints properly and in accordance with the Constitution and complaints 

procedure. 

Kensington & Chelsea Tenant lvfanagement Organisation 

53 . The Kensington & Chelsea Tenant Management Organisation was formall y 

launched in 19% by the Rt Hon John Gummcr, Secretary of Stale fo r th e 

Env ironment. Thi:; was a tevl years after l haJ been Vice Chair .f thc Ilow~ing and 

Social S0rvic0 Committee and duri ng my appoin tment as Chair of the ·nvi ronmcnl 

Committec . lL is my understanding that the TM.O was rorm.:.cJ in response to changes 

}'uhllo:' fuqD1ry \Vi tl lt'S· ·. Str1tc:l'!L.~li 
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in legislation and a des ire by tenants to avo id the Co uncil' s housing stock being 

trans ferred to a Housing Association, where it was pos ib le that ren ts wou ld rise 

more sharpl y. 

54. Following the launch of the KCTMO, RBKC took the c.lccis ion to transfer all of its 

housing stock to be managed by them. All aspects of managemen t were ultimately 

transferred from RBKC to the TMO, which included th e procurement process in 

relation to refurbishment works. I do not know the deta ils of any agreement(s) or the 

chronology o f when specific responsibi lities were fonnall y transferred to the TMO. 

55. At the roughly the same time as the inception of the TMO, the Lancaster West Estate 

Management Board ( 'EMB') was set up fo r Lancas ter W est and Grenfel l 

specifically. 

56. The EMB did not function effectively with regular reports that board meetings were 

often inquorate. At some point I understand a decision was made following a 

recommendation from the Housing Department to di ssol vc this entity and 

incorporate its functions back into the TMO. I do not recall much opposition to this, 

but as it was not within my area of responsibili ty at the time, I am unable to give 

further details. 

57. Although I was not di rectly involved with housing issues, l recall that RBKC was 

concerned at some aspects of the TMO's performance around 2006 ·- 2010. The 

issues related to void properties, uncollected service charges payable by leaseholders 

and problems with timely repairs would be regularly reported to the Cabinet Member 

for Housing and to the Housing and Property Scru tiny Committee. 

58. Whilst I was Leader, having been aware of previous poor performance of the TMO, 

but having been advised that performance was now improving, I met the CEO, 

Robert Black, informall y three to fo ur times a year. The issues we discussed were 

largely driven by co rrespondence I had received about a ra nge of issues . These would 

normall y include unsatisfactory repairs, anti-social behaviour, leaseholder service 

charg~s and inadequate management of cleaning. More strategically, we would, on 

Publ ic Inqui ry Witness Stalcment 
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occasions, di scuss th e limited avai labilit y of suitable housing tor our residents, and 

in part.i ular th e fact that we had too man y properties with an Insuffici ent number o r 

bedrooms. 

59. He would al so raise matters w ith rnc and report on various surveys which the TMO 

had und ertaken to meas ure res ident satisfaction on individual estates . The Cabinet 

member for Housing would meet the TMO more regu larly and follow- up on a 

number of these issues . The TMO Board was responsible for seoping works required 

and appo inting contractors. The Cabinet would receive reports on the TMO's capital 

budgets as part of the background information settin g out the Council's wider capital 

programme. 

60. Each year that I w as Leader, I was invited to attend the TMO Board strategy "Away 

day" , in order to meet members of the Board, to answer questions about Council 

policy and to hear about issues of concern to the Board. I attended these sessions 

each year except for 2017 when the General Election was underway. 

61. I also attended the annual Autumn TMO conference, held in Kensington, which 

attracted a turnout of severa l hundred tenants and leaseholders . As mentioned above 

I would run an "Ask Nick" question and answer session open to everyone. 

Grenfe/1 Tower 

62 I had been aware of Circnfcll T ower for a number of years on the basis that it w as 

part of RB KC' 's housing stock. I knew that it was an early 1970's high ri ··e residenti al 

bl ock, but bad no specific knowledge in relation to its original des ign, construction 

or composition. Prior to the renovation which started in 20 14, I had no knowledge 

of any prior works undertaken at the Tower. 

63 . l-· ollowing the capita l receip t from the sak of Hou sing Revenue Acco unt long leases 

in E!rn Pm'k Uardens in 20! U- J l, the :ouncil's housing department asked the TMO 

to advise it on wh<tl cap ital works were most urgent. The Cabind 'Nas !old that 

1'o l! Clwing a consu ltation bv !he TMO, Grcni'd l Tower wa~> in grea cst need of 
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investment to address a number of long-s tandin g iss ues rc l<~ting to th e centrali sed 

heating sys tem, poor insulation and leaking windows . Thi s was reported in the 2 

May 201 2 Cabinet Meeting (Exh NPB/fi). 

64. {n my role as Cabinet Member for the Environment and Transpmi, I was involved 

with the project to constru ct a ne\.v Kensington Leisure Centre. My key aim was to 

research the scope of the project by vis iting other leisure centres within London , 

taking officers and other M embers of RBKC, in order to assess what would work in 

relation to layout, faci liti es, accessibi lity and Oexibility. I did no t write any repori. 

Thi s would have been undertaken by appropriate Council officers. 

65. The leisure centre stands a few m etres from Grenfell and I was also aware of the 

construction of the new Kens ing ton Aldrid ge Academy (KAA), which was 

another element of the regeneration of this part of the Notting Barns Ward. 

66. These three developments all required planning pennission which would have been 

handled by the Council's planning department. Part of this development raised 

concerns regarding pedestrian safety in and around the area, which needed to be 

balanced against vehicular access to the buildings. I understand that ri sing bollards 

were install ed on the new walkway between the Academy and leisure centre in order 

to aUow approved or emergency vehicles access to the site whilst keeping it safe fo r 

chi ldren using the Academy and visitors to the Leisure Centre. 1 have no more 

detailed knowledge of this. 

67 . The report by the Director of Housing which was presented to the Cabinet on 2 May 

2012 (Ex NPB/6) confi rmed that the indicative castings for the refurbishment at 

Grcnfcll T ower was £6m. This would include replacement of the centralised boiler 

with individual heati ng systems in each fl a l, new windows, external thermal cladding 

improvements to the entrance ha ll , and the creation of additi onal " hidden homes" on 

the lower floo rs of the Tower. The Cabinet Member for Housing and Prop rty wo uld 

recci ve updates on the project. 

Publi c Inq ui ry Witness S talt: m <~ nt. 
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6X. At the Cabin :t meeting on l ~ July 201 3 (Lxh NPB/4), fol lowing more dclatl cd 

cos tings and the dec ision to re- tender, th Cabin et was asked to increase the budget 

fo r th e re furbi sh ment Jf th e Clrenfell T o'.vcr to £<).7 m il lion . This increased sum 

would a lso include provision of a new chi ldren's nursery and rep lacement premises 

for the Dale Box ing Club. The increased bud get. was approved. 

69. Exhibits NPB/4 and NPB/6 are typical c ·amples of Cabinet papers in that they 

contain the scope of the works to be undertaken, financial considerations, details of 

the con ' ultation and a timetable f()r works. They would not contain technical detai l 

in relation to what material s were to be used. 

70. The Cabinet minutes from 19 J une 2014 (Exh NPB/7) show that a further req ucst 

wus made to Cabinet to increase the budget to £! 0.3 mill ion to make provi sion for a 

contingency o f 6% in the refurbishment works. This appl ication w as also approved. 

71. The Cabinet was twice asked to increase the original budget for the refurbishment 

of the Tower. ln approving each increase, we felt that this investment and upgrade 

of faci li ti es would yield huge benefits to those wi th in Grenfell Tower and reflected 

our manifesto commitment to improving the quality of the Council 's housing stock. 

72. As Leader of the Council I was aware of the general scope of the renovation of 

Grenfcll Tower, for example , l knew that the ineffective L:enlraliscd heating system 

would be replaced by individual heating and hot water systems in each fl at, giving 

tenants greater control of their systems, windows would be repl aced with double 

g lazed uni ts and external cladding added to improve insulation and reduce heat loss. 

1 was particul arl y keen to suppmt the replacement oflhe nursery and the Dale box.ing 

club. 

73 . As I have said (above) in relation to the level of detail wntained in Cabind papers, 

l wa:--. ket.:n that these should address the cope of the works but would no t expect 

papers to cnvcr dctai Is of the 'lpcciiic materials to be used a.s th e Cabinet wou Id have 

no cxrcrt know!edg · aboul this. l expected a l.! designs und materials to meet 

Publli .. : !nquir:y \"/;tnc."" ::-. St~1LL~n1cnt 
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rc~:,rulatory and s tatutory requi rements . J had the same expectations relating to tire 

safety measures intended to protec t res idents. 

74. As the project pro~_:;ressed , those works wou ld be subject to regul ar inspection by 

relevant regu lators . C learly thi s was a large scheme, und ertaken wh ilst residents 

rema ined in si tu and they inevitably experienced a degree of disruption and 

inconvenience as the works prof:,rrcsscd. The compl ain ts that reached the Council 

about this , were taken seriously. 

75. As m entioned above (in paragraph 51 ), in December 2015 a petition was presented 

to th e Council M eeting. It was s igned by 5 1 residents and asked the Housing and 

Property Scrutiny Committee to " undertake an urgent scrutiny of the TMO and 

Rydon ' s management of the refurbishment ofGrenfell Tower". It said that res idents' 

views had been ignored or downplayed and that day-to-day concerns were beli tt led 

and side-li ned . It acknow ledged that when completed , the Tower would "at long last 

be ti t for the 2l st century" but said that residents had had to endure living cond it ions 

that were intolerable . 

76. I understand that Mr Edward Daffam (a resident of Grenfell Tower) was invited to 

speak to the Housing and Property Scrutiny Conunittee when it considered tbc 

petition on 6 January 2016. I understand that he raised a number of points about the 

contractors and the works . I further understood from subsequent conversations with 

coll eagues that a working group would be set up to look at the consultation process, 

conducted by the TMO, so that lessons could be learned for future refurbishments . 

The CEO of the T MO said that, to his knowledge, all complaints raised had been 

dealt with. The working group would be set up once the works had been concluded. 

77. A t its meeting on 5 January 2016, the Board of the TMO agreed that a group of 

Board Me m bers would review the issues raised in the peti tion presented to the 

Counci l as indi cated above. Six Board M embers mcl in February and agreed to spend 

a lull day o n th , review on 12 March . Thi s would include a tour of the Tower and 

('ul\ cons ideratio n of each o f the points ra isetL The Group <.:oncluded tltat there wt.:rc 
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a number of s igniil catll 1Ssues ra ised hy the project and that residents wou ld hnvc 

suffered inconveni ence. 

78 . Based on th is information l w as sati sfied that when complaints were raised, the 

Council was properly responsive and referred them to the appropriate department or 

body ( includ ing the TMO), !~x thorough follow up and act ion . 

79 . l have no recollection of receiving or having referred to me any concerns about fire 

safety from the residents of Grenfell Tower, except for the power surges experienced 

in 2013, which were investigated and reso lved. 

80. [visited Grenfell Tower in June 20 16 towards the end of the refurbishmen t when 

work appeared to be drawing to a conclusion. There was s till some minor work being 

undertaken at the nursery and in some of the flats . I returned a few weeks later to 

attend a ceremony where Gcorgc Groves (WBA super-middl eweight champion) 

formally re-opened the Dale Boxing Club where he had trained. 

14 June 2017 

8 1. I received a telephone call at 2.55 a. m. from C1lr Maighrcad Condon Simmonds who 

immediately informed me that there was a major fire at Grenfell Tower. I dressed 

and drove to North Kensington an·iving at around 3.45 a.m . lt was my recollection 

that it was light when I arrived and I will never forget turning onto Lancaster Road 

and seeing the Tower burning from top to bo ttom. 

82. I was telephoned by Cllr Gerard I-largrcaves, Cabinet Member for Communities and 

the Voluntary Sector. He and I, in a slate o f great ho k, walked to the vicinity of 

!he Tower. 

83. We met Cllr Rock Feilding-Mellen, the Deputy Lead er and Cabinet Member for 

Housing, and Robcrl Bl ack, the CFO of the TMO near th e Tower. A t that stage w e 

did no t know how rn an y peop le had been vacuatccl, but everyone said how quickl y 

lh . fl ames had spread. l spoke to some rcsiuents who has l.:om c: ~>U I from their homes 

on the com cr of Sirdar Road and T rc:adgo lrl Stn.:d. 
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84. On arrival at th e scene I identi fl ed myself as the Leader o f the Counc il in ord er to 

get pas t the outer cordon. I spoke to a number of police officers and asked bas ic 

questions such as if they knew how many people had been rescued o r were sti ll in 

the build ing, if a cause of the fire was known etc. They did not know how many 

people had escaped fron1 the build ing or were st ill inside, nor give a cause oflhe fire 

other than to say it appeared to have started in a fl at fairly near ground level. I did 

not attempt to speak to any fire officia ls as I did not want to delay or di stract them 

from their work . 

85. Al around 4.30 a.m. I telephoned the Town C lerk, Nicholas Holgate, who already 

knew about the fire and said that he was contacting senior staff J did not see him at 

Grenfell Tower at this time, but he subsequently confinned that be had been at the 

site, prior to going to the Town HalL 

86. Nicholas Holgate confirmed that the Borough's Emergency Plan had been activated, 

that the duty officer had been at the scene since the early morning, a Borough 

Emergency Call Centre (BECC) was being established and that a " Gold" Command 

meeting would be held once Council officers had reached the Town Hall. Some 

would come to North Kensington first Arrangements for opening immediate rest 

centres in the vicinity of the Tower were in hand. 

87 . As Leader I was aware of the Council's responsibilities to plan for major emergencies 

in accordance with the C iv il Contingencies Act 2004. T his set out a description of 

"Gold" and "Si lver" structures which would come into operation at local and London 

level. Whilst I was fami liar with the concept of emergency responses and the 

establishment of respite centres, I did not have in-depth knowledge in relation to 

these provisions as these responsibilities fell to the Town Clerk and the Borough's 

Emergency Planning Officer who I knew had attended briefings and lraini ngs on 

London Resilience. 

88 . I am unable to give detai ls in relation to specific agreement s or arrangements with 

vol untary and community o rganisations for the use of their premises, or details of 

how the mult i-agcnc.:y effort was coordinated beyond the establi shment of th e 

Public Inquiry Witne% S ta tement 
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Borough's Gold Command which would ac: ivale al l necessa ry Council departrncnls. 

My understanding on the morning of the ~ire was that this was being put into place 

and that the dlorts and contribution of cornmunity ;;,rroups was swift and 

comprehensive. My assumption at the time was that the Council's long-sl<-mding 

policy of working with these groups was widely unders tood and appreciated. 

89. Whil st in the vicinity of the Tower I was stopped by various media companies with 

requests for interviews. I gave a numher of "pavement" interviews during which I 

expressed my great sadness and shock about the fire, promising to support any 

investigation into its cause and rapid spread. 

90. I was aware that Central Govcmment had cal led a COBRA meeting in response to 

the fire and assumed that I would hear about the decisions it took in due course. I did 

not expect to be invited to any COBRA meetings as these are for Senior Ministers 

and Civi l Servants. 

91. The Council's press office was in touch with me in relation to the large number of 

requests received from media organisations. Approaches were also made direct to 

me via my mobile phone but due to the number of call s, messages and emails, it was 

impossible for me to respond reactively as I was using the phone to keep in contact 

with the Town Hall. 

92. Following a walk around the cordon area where I spoke to some more residents. I 

gave interviews to the BBC Today Programme and Sky News. Afterwards I visited 

the Latimer Christian Centre which was providing suppott for residents from the 

Tower, some of whom had lost relatives and were requesting information about 

which hospitals survivors had been taken to. 

~3. I returned to the Town Hall sometime in the middle of the morning and joined the 

Gold Meeting before it ended. It was first of two that day. Approx imately fifteen 

senior departmentai staff or their r<.:prescntativcs \.Vt.Tc prcsellt. 
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94. T he meeting was abl e to confirm th at two furth er rest centres had been estab li shed; 

one at Rugby Portobello Trust ("RPT") and one at the Clement Jarncs Cen tre 

("CJC" ), and that Co uncil man agers were now at each, in add ition to the Red Cross 

(at RPT) . A further rest centre was to be es tablished at Weslway Sports Cen tre, and 

would include emergency overnight accommodation . Block bookings of hotel 

accommodat ion for the forthcomi ng weekend were being made for residents of 

Grenfell Tower, and the surrounding evacuated areas and li aison was underway with 

nearby schools, as some pupils either lived in the Tower or on the neighbour ing 

esta te. Foster carers were being identified and lists drawn up of residents of the 

Tower who were known to receive support from various Council services. A centre 

for relati ves and friends of residents was also being established. 

95. Arrangements were made to provide the .res idents with cash for essentials. Nicholas 

Holgate said that other Boroughs had offered help and resources , and that this would 

be used to provide additional support at the rest centres, and that a further Gold 

meeting would take p lace at 3 p .m. 

96. Once I have been briefed by Nicholas Holgate on the patt of the Gold Meeting that 

I had missed, I prepa red a few notes on the actions agreed and spoke to my office. I 

returned to Grenfell and gave a series of media interviews for the lunchtime news. 

They all focused on the cause of the tire and the role of the cladding. At this time, 

12 people were reported to have d ied. I was shocked by one interviewer's question 

seeking guarantees from me tha t " the poorer people who are moved out would not 

be replaced. by rich people being built fancy new fl ats". I responded suggesti ng that 

was an "awful" a ll egati on to make and that the Tower had just had £ 10m spent on 

refurbishment to improve it for the people who lived in it. There was no suggestion 

that they should live anywhere else, or that we planned to move any residents out of 

the Borough. 

97. Du ring the aftcmoon, I took pmt in a press conference with th e Pire and Police 

Commanders in Lancaster Road. 
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n. Afterwards l vi s ited the Rugby Portobel lo Club (the sa me as Rl'T) with two 

colkagucs . [l was full on both level with d istresscJ fiunilics waiting for nn vs. 

Police, fire officials and Counci l officers were all present at the C lub. Whi lst th ,:,rc, 

I spoke to a number of people, including an o[ficer from the Council 's housin g 

department, whose name I did not regis ter. T his conversation was in rel a tion to the 

efforts which were being made to identi fy suitable overnight accomrnodation. 

99. I was acutely aware of the assis tance and effcHts that ti·ont line staff were making in 

a number of locations around the Tower. r knew I would receive additional 

information ahout the amount of accommodation required from the Gold meetings 

in due course and did not want to be a d istraction once r was satisfied th a t. help was 

being provided . It appeared tha t Council s taff, 'l'MO officers, community workers 

and volunteers alongside the emergency services were all working closely together 

in the locutions that I visi ted. Other colleagues were visiting other relief ~entres. 

l 00. I returned to the Town Hall where I recei vcd an update fi:om the afternoon Gold 

meeting, which had been informed that residents were being taken to hoteLs by taxi . 

Overall one hundred rooms had been booked in order to provide immediate 

temporary accommodation. I was not aware of the specific details of all of the hotels 

as this was being dealt with by the relevant Council departments. It was reported that 

some residents had chosen to stay with friends or relatives rather than being taken to 

a hotel. It had been agreed that West way Sports Centre would remain open that night, 

with thirty households reported as being in the Clement James Centre . A centre for 

relatives and friends was operating out of the Salvation Army base in Portobello 

Road. 

10 !. The Borough Emergency Control Centre was up and running and RB C sta ff rotas 

and shifts were being worked out. A no te from Nichol as Holgatc to all Councillors 

th at evcaing teported tha t three rest centres had been op erati ng and that officers fro m 

children's' services, adult social care and hous ing were work ing with the bereaved. 

102. !\·1y und~rstanding of the Ernergcncy Plan was tha t it focu~scd on the precisl' a nd 

detailed rule that officers of the Council \Vould fulfil . There 'Nas no spec ific 
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de finiti on of ro les for Members, o th er than to ensure that th ey were briefed on the 

details of the rel ie f operation. Based on my attenda nce at Go ld meetings and my 

conversations with the Town C lerk and Sen io r Officers, it appeared to me that all 

appropriate and avai lable staff re, ources were actively focussed on rcspondi ng to th e 

tragedy, and pro viding the humanitarian assistance as required. 

I 03. f saw a key ro le for myself as being to establish what the Gold operation had been 

doing to provide support, particul arly in terms of money and accomm odation, and 

to attempt to communicate this to coll eagues, the public and the media. However, 

that objective had to compete with a large numher of media queries about how many 

other buildings w ere covered in similar cladd ing and whether the cladding on the 

nearby Kensington Aldridge Academy was the same type as had been used on the 

Tower. These were questions that I could not answer because I did not know. 1 

relayed thi s back to RBKC's press office. 

l 04. I took calls from the newly appointed Fire Minister, Nick Hurd, and the new Housing 

Minister, Alok Sham1a, who offered their sympathy and support. Throughout this 

terrible day, the Council' s priority was to provide accommodation for survivors, to 

support relatives of survivors who were seeking news of missing family members 

and to ensure that they had money. The Cabinet Member fo r Finance, Cllr Warwick 

Lightfoot, had contacted me earlier in the day to say that any financial support 

needed by survivors, could and would be met by the Council. 

105 . 'I he Counci l was also starting to face a major logistical challenge managmg, 

distributing and storing the huge number of dona tions which were flood ing in. 

106 . I spent much of Wednesday (J4lh), Thursday (lSll') and Friday (16th) momings in the 

area around Gren fel l. There were many Councillors and officers on the ground 

providing support. Several senior officers were also handling logi stics at Kens ington 

Town Hall as donations of food , cloth ing and toiletries poured in. Council lors were 

passing back requests and observations to Gold meetings or to the BECC. At a 

rapidly arran g d meeting on Thursday eveni ng with Conservative Members, r asked 

ior Lheir feedback and sought to ensure that they were spread ing their visi ts across 

Pub lic Inquiry \Vi tn r;ss S ta te ment 
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lG al l the support centres which haJ opened th ' ir dllO rs, and l o vi :; it these, at diff~rcn t 

limes of the day so tha t each centre got a morning, lunch ti me and eveni ng vi si l tu 

~?.ns u re that any problems could be rapidl y pi..:kcd up by th ~ Cnu;1cil. 

107. North Kensington is a diverse community and different res idents had particular 

community centres that they identified with, many of which had close links with 

particu lar Councillors . The Council had supported thee centres over many years and 

it did not surprise or concern me that their premises were being used to provi de rel ief. 

108. In retrospect, the Council could have considered requiring Members and officers 

from RBKC to wear high visibi lity jackets, which identi fied them as being from the 

Council , if these were avail able. It was nonnal procedure that staff should wear 

lanyards wi th their Council passes on display. Due to the intensity of the crisis, this 

issue of identification was not a matter which was high on tbc Gold agenda or mi ne. 

RBKC wanted people on the ground doing their jobs and identifyi ng what needed to 

be done. During my visits I saw and spoke to a number of familiar officers. However, 

if staff were not displaying their lanyards, and I did not recogni se them, I would not 

be able to distinguish them as RBKC staff speci fically. 

109. The Council had over many years enj oyed good and long term relations with the 

community and voluntary sectors, therefore I expected Council offi cers and local 

volunteers to come together in crisis and work together seam.lcssly. 

110. Several senior national politicians made visits to the urea in !he days immediately 

following the tragedy, although there was little or no coordination with RB KC. The 

Mayor o!'London visited and r offered to meet him. I was advised this invitation had 

been declined . 1 was told on Thursday morning (1 51h) that the Prime Minister had 

visit d Grenfell Tower, but 1 had no pri or knowledge of this, or discussion with her 

office about her visit. Jeremy Corbyn MP, Leader of the Opposition also visited tha t 

day. 

11 J . One of"lhe J ain aims of the ruld meetings at this early ~;tagc Cocusscd on the need 

for provision of wrap-around care so that survivors and hurnc less families displaced 
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from the finger blocks were not faced wi th a host of different social workers handling 

different support issues. There was also recognition of th e need for practical actions 

such as survivors needing money, and recognition that they were unlikely to have 

any means of identification. It was at,rreed to provide each of them with an immediate 

cash package of £500. There were also concerns relating to residents in the finger 

blocks in Lancaster West which adjoined th e Tower. Later I sent a note to all my 

colleagues (NPB/8). 

112. At the Gold meeting on Thursday at the request of Nicholas Holgate, two officers 

from Southwark attended to give advice based on their experience of dealing with 

the aftermath of the 2009 Lakanal House fire. He felt that they had the most relevant 

and recent experience which could be used for the benefit of th e survivors. 

113. I was satisfied that from the first hours of the fire, through to Thursday (15 tt') 

evening, Council officers were undettaking a wide range of functions, from 

identifying the temporary hotel accommodation, providing support to affected 

schools and grieving families, distributing money to survivors, and handling 

donations. Front line staff were working in a variety of locations operated by 

voluntary and community group, but this was as I expected. 

114. The Council did not have a separate building in North Kensington and was well 

aware of the fact that different residents identified themselves with particular 

centres. The effort was being co-ordinated by Gold Command based at Kensington 

Town Hall. If l could not be present at those meetings, 1 asked my Deputy or another 

member of the Cabinet to attend and brief me afterwards. 

115. On Thursday evening, I had a conversation with the Red Cross to di scuss how they 

could help to co-ordinate the enormous number of donations and provide additional 

relief. People w anted to donate, but preferably not to the Council. l asked them to 

liaise with the Kensington & Chel sea Foundation which [s an independent charitable 

trust based in the Borough which was starting to receive stgnificant financial 

donations . Following this, I held the meeting with Conservative Councillors. It was 
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around this time that local Gold Com mand decided to intensify the level oCrespon sG 

to Lh c tragedy to the level of London Go ld, ancll was to ld about this on Friday. 

11 6. On Thursday evening I agreed to a live TV interview wi th BBC Ncwsnight. I was 

asked whether l had ever been in the Tower (which I had on two occ~sions), and for 

details of the cladding and how widespread its use was. In particular I was asked to 

comment on the fact that sprinklers had not been installed. l explained my 

understand ing that sprinklers had not been installed in the original building and tha t 

retro-fitting them would have required drilling into asbestos, which in turn would 

have necessitated moving residents out of their homes, for an unspecified period. 

This had been exp lained to me by a fire officer earlier that day and was not an issue 

w hich had been considered by the Council. In addition I said in the interview that it 

was my understanding that the general concept of containment mean t that a fire 

would ordinmi ly be expected to be confiueu. 

117. I added that many high rise buildings around the country had used similar cludding 

as a means of improving energy-efficiency and insulation, and that many 1960s and 

1970s flats do not have sprinklers. This was not an attempt by me or RBKC to justify 

the horrific events of the 14111 June. The selection and approval ofbuilding materials 

was dealt with through the procurement process by professional staff and needed to 

meet regulatory requirements. It was not something I had any specialist knowledge 

on. 

118. Some of the media questions assumed that the Council had undertaken the 

refurbi shment directly. It became clear that the role of the Tenant Management 

Organisation, as tl separate lega l structure with its own Board, \vhich enabl ed tenants 

and leaseholders to manage their properties, was not well understood. 

11 9. On Friday morning the Secretary of State for Local Government, Saj id Javid, visi ted 

tltc W estway Sports Centre and I mer him along with other Councillors . Two 

surviving fmnihcs remained in the hall and he met them. He urged me to find 

accomrnodntion on Rjgh l Move if there was nnt enough et 1pty Counc i I or 1 rousing 

Association property lhat could be used . He said that money would not be a prob lem, 

l'uhbc fnt:uii'/ Vhtn~:.s:-.. :)tattnh.'JH 

·· · i'>ilcholas Paget iSr l iV.'n 

RBK00035001_0026 
RBK00035001/26



that the Government bad already pledged £5 rn, and that th e department could hel p 

with ident ifying housing. We di scussed the Bcllwin Scheme \Vhich provid es 

emergency financial support to Council s fo llowing a disaster3 

120. The fu ll scale of the di saster continued to develop and the Borough's own emergency 

plan was escalated as London Gold in order to supplement th e Borough's own 

efforis. This was intended to provide the necessary add it ional resources in terms of 

officers and managers, with the appropriate skill s, to handl e a major emergency. 

121. The scale of the tragedy was now developing addi tional dimensions, incl uding the 

increased pressure presented by surroundi ng homes close to the Tower having to be 

evacuated, and those residents also requiting humanitarian assistance. Addi tionally, 

families and fr iends of residents of the Tower were ani ving, seeking information 

about loved ones. This quickly became a crisis on a scale that London had not 

witnessed since the end of the War and that no local plan alone could accommodate. 

122. On my return to the Town Hall from the Westway Sports Centre at lunchtime on 

Friday (16th), I met Nicholas Holgate and John Barradcll (the Head ofLondon Gold) 

for a briefing on that morning's meeting and the initiation of the London Gold 

Operation. I was then advised by the Police to leave the Town Hall ahead of the 

demonstration which was due to take place that afternoon. This I did and I continued 

to follow their advice to stay at home on Saturday, where l caught up with a large 

number of emails, texts and voicemails. The vast majority were offering sympathy 

to the Borough and some contained offers of help (of different kinds), which I 

forward ed to the appropriate officers. 

123. J understood that there was a strong feel ing locally and that the police were 

concerned that my presence could aggravate or upset those who had been affected 

by this tragedy. T his was becoming apparent as I left the Westway Spo1ts Centre on 

h iday morning. 1 was concerned Lo learn that the Friday afternoon Gold Meeting 

haJ haJ to be (crminated follow ing the demon tration at Kensington Town Hall. One 

Guidance on this is avu il able o n the .GOV websitc, bu t post-dates the fire 
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of the main agenda items for this meet ing was to <mange weekend shi fts and rotas 

a t the Sports Centre in o rder to ensure continuous cover for the sur-vivors . T he 

meeti ng had to be moved to Westminster City Hall . 

t 24. 1 accepted advice not to speak to the media on the basis that I co uld not properly g ive 

an an ·wer to the questions being posed about m aterials a nd the reasons for the rapid 

spread of the tire. 

125 . At around 5.45 p.m. on Friday, I was called by the Prime Minister. This was my 

first conversation with her in relation to the crisi s . She asked m e to ensure that people 

had money and that they were offered housing as quickly as possible. A support unit 

from the Department of Comm uniti es and Local Government (DCLG) would help 

with this. She sa id that she had been to the Clement James Centre, a nd bad been told 

that they had received "no communication" from the Council. I was unable to 

comment on this, but I was surprised as l had understood colleagues and Council 

officers to have been at the centre. 

126. The Prime Minister asked m e how many people would need accommodation and w e 

discussed the situation as it stood at that time. There was no discussion of her visit 

the previous day to the Kensington Leisure Centre (this was the base for the Fire and 

Emergency Services, with the nearby Westway Sports Centre the focus of support 

for survivors and relatives) . The two centres were in close proximi ty. 

127. I did no t know in advance that the Prime Minjster would be vis iti ng the Clement 

Jamcs Centre. The Leader of the Opposition had already vis ited this location and if 

I had been notified of her visit in advance, 1 would have suggested, as an alternative, 

that she wen! to the Muslim Cultural Heritage Centre in Acklam Road. This was 

providing a wi de range of supp01t service to survivors who worshipped at the 

mosque and l believe they wo uld have greatly appreciated a visit frcm the Prime 

M mister. 
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128. Subsequent to her call, I spoke to Nicholas Holgate who told me that in a conference 

call earl ier that afternoon, the Prime Minister had required survivo rs to be re-ho used 

(a lbeit in temporary accommoda ti on) within three weeks. 

129. On Saturday 17'" June, due to the unprecedented volume of global med ia requests, 

the Counci l accepted an offer from Newgate Communications, who had experience 

of hand ling disasters, to act pro bono to help with the huge volume of media 

enquiries. Newgate worked alongside the Council's in-house communications team, 

which from recollection was no more than five people. 

130. 'T'he Council recognised the need that the public would have ques tions and that our 

resources prior to the 14111 June would not be able to cope. In order to assis t wi th Lhc 

volume of cnqui1·ies additional specialist communication resources were required. 

l 3 1. Newgate helped me to draft a personal statement published on the Council's wcbsite 

home page (including my official blog) which was also avai labl e for wider 

distr ibution about the tragedy. At this time, it had been reported that fifty-eight 

people had di l"-d. On Saturday, l sent a note to a ll Councillors setting out the new 

Gold arrangements. (NPB/9). 

132. I returned to the Westv.:ay Centre shortly after 8 a.m. on Sunday moming and held 

conversations with volunteers from the Red Cross and a housing assessment team 

staffed by officers from neighbouring boroughs. Next to Lhem was the Housing 

Allocations Team made up of the Council 's own officers, urgently trying to identify 

suitable accommodation. I was informed by a NHS team that survivors who did not 

have details of their m edication could ask them to check records with GPs in order 

to be prov ided with replacement prescriptions. The centre also had bJTief counsellors 

and psychologists in s itu to assist with those in attendance. 

133 . Later that evening 1 w as infonncd by Cll r M ury W eale th at she had recei ved reports 

tha t there w ere no Council s taff at tbe W estway C entre unti l 7 p.m ., when in fact she 

had persona l knowledge that representatives had been there s ince lO <U tL Wc were 
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concerned a l the suggestion th at .'ounci i staff were not rrcscnt, and considered this 

to be an inaccurate report 

134. On Monday Morning ( 191h June) my Deputy and I attended a minute's si lence, 

arranged by the church in memory of the victims of the fire, held at the Kensington 

War Memori al. Fo llowing th is we held a meeti ng with New gate Communicat ions at 

which we were advised of their plans f<w supplementing our Communications Team 

and organising rotas of duty offi cers, to assist them provide some relief from the 

immense pressure the team had hecn un.der. 

135. Following this I attended the morning Go ld Meeting. We had around twenty of our 

own social workers along with thirty to forty from other London Boroughs on site. 

The meeting was told that sixty-six c<tre workers nncl occ\lpationa l health specialists 

had been on duty since Wednesday, with two hundred and twenty families being 

accommodated in hotels. 

136. That afternoon, along with the senior officer responsi ble for communilies, l met 

Mustapha Almansour who I had seen at the head of the protest at the Town Hall last 

Friday along with a colleague of his who used to live in Grenfell Tower. They are 

involved with Jus tice 4 Grcnfcll. They asked for a list of the missing and the dead 

and wanted a commitment that all those affected by the fire would be "immediately" 

rehoused in the Borough. I agreed to meet them again when I had more information 

but made it clear that it is the Police and not the Council who were responsible for 

these lists. 

137. ln the evening, at my request an emergency meeting of the Conservative Group was 

held. It wns chaired by Greg Hands MP, newly appointed Minister for London and 

MP for Chelsea. I gave a detailed h1ctual statement (NPB/10 ) covering the actions 

taken by the Council since last Wednesday. Once this was completed, 1 again offered 

to resign the Leadership, and withdrew from the meeting to ailow an open and frank 

discussion . lv1y rcsi~nalion offer v;a::; ullimately rejected hy \Vhat I v-.-as told was by 

a st rong majority. 
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l 38. On Tuc!>day 2(l l11 the C:iold Meetin g was to ld that a numb er of staff were ex hausted 

and that rnora le was poor fo llowing the tragedy and way the media was portraying 

the Counc il' s res ponse. T he initiat ion of London Gold th e previous Friday ( 1 () l11), 

bro ugh t in hundreds o f other Council officers from other London Boroughs and was 

intended to provide relief and additional resources, but was in my view largely 

presented as a sign that the Counc il could not cope . T he rea lity was that that some 

600 adcli tiona 1 officers were invol vecl in the Grenfell relief over the fo llowing weeks 

and there was no way that any single Council would ever have that number of 

specialist staff available. 

139. During the a fternoon, along with C llrs Gerard Hargreaves and Mary Weale, I visited 

the Muslim C ultural Heritage Centre (MCHC) where a huge number of vo lunteers 

were handling donations . W e walked around the main hall with the Director of the 

centre. I spoke to a lady wearing Shayla within the main hall , who was staffing one 

of the d esks in connection with school support. I had assumed that she was a 

volunteer or a member of the MCHC, but it transpired that she worked for the 

Borough 's education department, a lthough it was not obvious that she was employed 

by RBKC. It again raised the issue of visibility of the Council s taff to me. 

140. On my w ay back from this meeting I recei.ved a call from the Secretary of State for 

Local Government, Sajid Javid, sayi ng that it would be necessary for me to dismi ss 

the Counci l's T own Clerk and the C hief Executive of th e TMO. I offered my 

res ignation but it was declined. Over the followi ng 24 hours, I spoke to both Nicholas 

Holgate and R obert Black and we discussed their respective resignations. Robert 

Black remind ed me his appointment was a matter fo r the TMO Board and not the 

Cou ncil or Government, therefore I had no power to remove him from hi s position. 

141. In conjunction w ith N ewgate, the Co uncil sought to keep the publ ic and media 

updated in relation to the actions taken in relation to accommodating those affected 

by the iirc. Thi s was done via daily bull eti ns . 

142 . On W ednesday 2Pl I received a call from Lord Porter, Chair of the Loca l 

Govem n1cnt A ssoci ation, who urged me to appoi nt a new Chief Executive or he 
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thought that lh e Government would appoint Co mmi ss ioners to ntn th e Co un cil. T he 

s tro ng recommendat ion W<lS thal l shou ld appoi nt BatTy Q uirk, the long-servin g 

Ch ief Executive of Lewisham on an interim bas is, w hich ! did. \V e were unabl e lo 

meet that day as the Town Hall was "locked down" due to what the med ia were 

reportin g was a planned "Day of Rage" being organised by activists who did not 

appear to be representat ive of the survivors. This was the second time withi n five 

days that the reli ef effort had suffered major disrupt!or.. 

143 . The Prime Minister had stated to the new House ofConunons (following the 7111 June 

General Eiection) that the response to the fire in the initial hours was not good 

enough, stating there had been a "failure of the state at local and national level to 

help people when they needed it most". The Council had initiated the Emergency 

Response Plan, and staff and resources had been rapidly deployed. As the scale and 

complexi ty of the support needed grew, London Res ilience was put in place with the 

Council continuing to operate the local Gold operation to ensure that the extremely 

diverse needs of traumatised survivors were being met. I felt that the Council had 

been doing all it could and had been working closely with long-term pmtners in the 

community and voluntary sectors in North Kensington. 

144. Prior to the Prime Minister addressing the Conunons on 22 June, I w as not aware 

of the existence of the Grenfcll Tower Recovery Task Force, which she had chaired. 

As part of her address she indicated that there would be a new strategy for res ilience 

in major disasters, wh ich I understood to be a recognition of the fact that no singie 

Council could be expected to cope with the scale of this type of tragedy. 1 assumed 

that this could mean an institution along the lines of the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency (FEMA) in the United States. 

145 . In the Commons, the Prime Minister responded to calls f(n my resigna tion hy stating 

that"[ have bad a conversation with the Leader ofK.ens ington and Chelsea Counci l. 

l told him that he needed to ensure that residents, victims and survivors of this 

terrible disctster were being given the help and support they need. We have now 

added more helr and support to ensure that that is happening on the ground'' . 
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146. l felt that the Council , work ing with London Gold and a range of community groups, 

was doing a ll it cou ld to support survivors bu t that somehow this w:-~s not being 

accura tely repot1cd. 

147. Shortl y after this the Counci l, through Newgatc issued a statement saying "it is clear 

that there has been a fai ling in our co llective response. We could have done a better 

job at coordinating what happened on the ground and we weren't able to re-home 

people as fast as we would have liked. We are truly sorry for that". I regret 

approving this statement as it appeared to accept c1iticisms which I believed were 

unjustified in the circumstances. It failed to recognise the immense hard work of 

large numbers of Cou nci l officers and it made out that providing suitable housing, 

even temporarily, was an easy matter that we had simply fa iled to handle swiftly 

enough. It also, in my opinion, failed to take account of the stress and potential 

pressure survivors may feel in relation to accepting suitable offers of accommodat ion 

within the time limit set by the Prime Minister. 

148. At the Gold meeting we were informed that two hundred and sixty-eight families 

were accommodated the previous night. It was confirmed that the A1my had been 

called in to fix the community boilers which had been affected by the fire and were 

not currently providing hot water to Lancaster West. It was estimated thi s would take 

up to two weeks to remedy. 

149. On Tuesday 27 1h June, I wrote to the Home Secretary, Amber Rudd (Exh NPB/11), 

as there was concern that some Home Office Staff at the Wcstway Centre were not 

aware of the promise that survivors' immigration statuses would not be challenged. 

It was important th al this was clarified and the extent of this exemption was clearly 

understood, for example, did it include the properties sunounding Grcnfcll Tower 

where a number of residents had also been required to leave their homes. 

150. I began to prepare for the Cabinet meeting being held on Thursday (29 111 June) whi ch 

had been in the diary for some time. M y intention was to deliver my statement 

providing Members with an account what the Council had don e since the early hours 

of 14 June, and to encourage qucslions from Members regards the Council' 
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act ivities over th e previo us fourtee n dny::J. The advice that l rece ived from the Town 

C lerk was lhatlhc Cabinctmccling sh ould be held in pnvale due to the risk of publ ic 

di sord er. The Cear was based on the demonstrations which had taken pl ace over the 

preced ing d ays. I shared his opinion that this would he the only way Council lors 

could have an open di scussion of the events of the last two weeks . 

151. Moments before the meeting began. l was advised that the High Court had granted 

an injunction to "The G uardian" la te that afternoon. My understanding at the time 

was that if the Press were granted access to the meeting then it would no t be possible 

to deny the public access. (I was subsequently told that in fact it would have been 

possible to exclude the public) . r in terpreted this to mean that if the Press came into 

the room, r could fini sh my s tatement but would then need to terminate the meeting, 

as a free and open d iscussion would not be possibl e wi th the Press present and to 

continue the discussion may prejudice the Public fnquiry process. 

152. When the meeting began, the Press had not arrived and I began to read my statem ent 

(Exh NPB/12). T he Press entered th e room and I continued to deliver my statement. 

During my delivery, I was passed a written note by the interim Chief Executive, 

which provided me with the advice to close the meeting as l had been verball y 

recommended to do minutes before the meeting started. I therefore concluded my 

statement and closed the meeting. This was not an attempt to avoid public scrutiny 

but to follow the legal advice l had received . In retrospect it would probably have 

been better to adjourn the meeting and take further legal advice. 

153. On Friday 30 June, following a visit that the Deputy Leader and T made to the 

London Gold operation at Westminster, I was advised by Greg Hands MP, the new 

Minister for London, that my resignation was now required. At 5.30 p .m. 1 

announced my resignation (NPB/13) as Leader of the Counci l, indicating that it was 

not right that I should be a fo<.:us in the aftennath, when so many had di ed or were 

unaccounted for 

154. ln relation to the adequacy of the response by RBKl', it is my genuine bclierthat the 

Counci l dealt wilh thi s unparalicicd crisis as cffcctwcly as it could, with the 
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resources it hnd ava il able to it and the immense strains being placed upon it. This 

was best demonstrated by al l the relevant departments and their seni or management 

teams respo nding with total commitment. Despite these efforts it is evident that there 

are difficult issues, which were presen t in the immediate aftermath, which remain 

nearly 18 months later. 

155 . It is my s incere w ish that the Pub lic lnquiry helps to provide answers to those 

affected by thi s tragedy, so that lessons may be learned to prevent any repetition of 

the te;:rrible events of the 14 June 2017. 

Puhlic lnquiry W itne s::; S tatc rnenl 
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Sta temen t of Tru th ----------···-·-· 

I bc:l icve thatlhc facts sla ted in this w[tncss slatcrncnl nrc true. 

I am willing tor this st<ltcmenl to form part of the evidence before the Inquiry and to be 

published on the fnquiry's wcbs ite. 

Ful l name: 

Position or office held: 

Signed: 

Date: 
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